IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA .

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

OCT 1 0 2023

EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 18-0363

PATRICK DOHENY, ESQUIRE

VS.

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org
Andrea J. Hinerman [Bar No. 8041] Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel ahinerman@wvodc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel City Center East, Suite 1200C
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999
(304) 558-4015 – facsimile

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

On January 23, 2013, Respondent was convicted of (1) Aggravated Assault by Motor Vehicle while Driving Under the Influence, (2) Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol or Controlled Substance, (3) Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol, high rate of alcohol, (4) Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol or Controlled Substance, and (5) Failure to Keep Right. Respondent had also been charged, but was acquitted of, reckless driving. The convictions arose out of a motor vehicle accident that occurred on the night of October 5, 2011, wherein Respondent's vehicle crossed the center line of a roadway and collided with a motorcycle traveling in the oncoming direction. The operator of the motorcycle sustained serious bodily injuries. A civil action was also filed due to the accident, which resulted in a civil settlement.

As a result of his criminal conviction in Commonwealth of Pennsylvania v. Patrick J. Doheny. Jr., Criminal Docket No: CP-02-CR-0001734-2012, Respondent was sentenced on June 24, 2013, as follows: (1) placement into a county intermediate punishment program (IPP) for a period of eighteen (18) months which consisted of house arrest, work release, and the wearing of an ankle monitoring device; (2) probation for a period of four years supervised by the Allegheny County Adult Probation Office subject to the following conditions: (a) payment of restitution in the amount of \$1.00; (b) have no contact with victim; (c) perform 100 hours of community service; and (d) do not operate a motor vehicle unless and until driver's license is restored; (3) court-ordered drug and alcohol evaluation; (4) safe driving classes; and (5) payment of a \$500.00

fine. Respondent's punishment commenced on June 24, 2013, and his probation continued until June of 2017.¹

Respondent self-reported his conviction to ODC by letter dated February 13, 2013, and ODC opened a complaint identified as I.D. No. 13-01-081.² In addition to providing information on his criminal conviction, Respondent self-reported the Pennsylvania disciplinary action taken against him to ODC by letter dated January 10, 2017. Respondent attached to his letter the Private Reprimand, the Order accepting the Report and Recommendation of the Hearing Panel Committee, and the Report and Recommendation of the Hearing Panel Committee.

On April 24, 2018, the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC") filed a "Notice of Reciprocal Disciplinary Action Pursuant to Rule 3.20 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure." Paragraph 9 of that Notice advised Respondent that Disciplinary Counsel would request that the Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "HPS") impose a similar, but not the same sanction as the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme Court of

_

¹ Respondent filed a direct appeal of his criminal conviction in or about January 2014, and the Superior Court of Pennsylvania affirmed Respondent's criminal convictions by Order entered on April 29, 2015. Respondent then filed a Petition for Allowance of an Appeal with the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania on the basis of newly discovered evidence obtained during his direct appeal. The Supreme Court of Pennsylvania denied Respondent's Allowance of an Appeal on February 8, 2016, and the matter became final on March 9, 2016. Respondent next filed a Petition for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief on February 8, 2017, wherein he sought reversal, in the form of acquittal or new trial, of his conviction. An evidentiary hearing was held on June 5, 2017, and by Order entered June 5, 2017, the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County dismissed his Petition for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief. Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal of the denial of his Petition for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief on June 9, 2017. On December 27, 2018, the Superior Court of Pennsylvania affirmed the denial of Respondent's Petition for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief. See, Commonwealth v. Doheny, No. 846 WDA 2017, 2018 WL 6803713 (Pa. Super. Ct. Dec. 27, 2018).

² On September 23, 2015, the Chair of the Investigative Panel of the West Virginia Lawyer Disciplinary Board issued a stay on I.D. No. 13-01-081 pending the resolution of Respondent's underlying criminal charges and Pennsylvania disciplinary proceedings. In <u>Legal Ethics Committee v. Pence</u>, 161 W.Va. 240, 253, 240 S.E.2d 668, 674 (1977), the Court found that Legal Ethics Committee (now known as the Lawyer Disciplinary Board) should not defer disciplinary proceedings where only a civil case is also pending involving substantially similar factual allegations but disciplinary proceedings should be deferred until there a termination of pending criminal litigation involving substantially similar factual allegations, provided that the respondent-attorney proceeds with reasonable dispatch to insure the prompt prosecution and conclusion of the pending litigation.

Pennsylvania because the West Virginia Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure do not provide for a private reprimand as a permissible sanction. In Paragraph 10 of that notice, in accordance with Rule 3.20(d) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, ODC advised Respondent of his right to challenge the validity of his Pennsylvania discipline, advised of his right to request a formal hearing and provide a complete copy of the record to the ODC within thirty (30) days.

Instead, on May 23, 2018, Respondent filed his "Motion to Dismiss Notice of Reciprocal Disciplinary Action for Lack of Jurisdiction and to Seal Record of Proceedings" with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia.

On June 4, 2018, Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed "Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel's Response to Respondent's 'Motion to Dismiss Notice of Reciprocal Disciplinary Action for Lack of Jurisdiction and to Seal Record of Proceedings'" with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia.

On October 4, 2018, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia issued an Order refusing Respondent's Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Seal.

After ODC filed a Motion for Reciprocal Discipline pursuant to Rule 3.20(a) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, on or about October 2, 2020, Respondent filed a "Response to [ODC's] Motion for Reciprocal Disciplinary and Request to Dismiss Notice of Reciprocal Disciplinary Action and to Seal Record of Proceedings" with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia.

ODC filed a "Response to 'Respondent's Response to [ODC's] Motion for Reciprocal Disciplinary and Request to Dismiss Notice of Reciprocal Disciplinary Action and to Seal Record of Proceedings" and "Motion to File Out of Time" with the Supreme Court of Appeals on October 26, 2020.

By Order entered January 28, 2021, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia granted ODC's Motion to File a response out of time and refused the Motion to Dismiss and the Motion to Seal.

The HPS, comprised of Kelly D. Ambrose, Esquire, Chairperson; Henry W. Morrow, Jr., Esquire; Dr. K. Edward Grose, Laymember, subsequently set a Scheduling Order, including a hearing date in this matter but following a pre-hearing held by video conference, the HPS entered an "Order from Pre-Hearing Conference Held May 26, 2021," wherein the HPS determined that upon review of the record, the Scheduling Order was "improvidently awarded." The HPS also stated that pursuant to Rule 3.20, the HPS determined that an evidentiary hearing is not necessary. The HPS also found that a "threshold issue to be addressed in these proceedings is whether the HPS, and ... the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, has subject matter jurisdiction of this matter based upon the uncontested record" The HPS requested that the parties submit briefs on the "sole issue of subject matter jurisdiction based upon the claim advanced by the Respondent that under Rules 3.20(b) and 3.20(c), that jurisdiction is only achieved when 'public discipline has been rendered in the foreign jurisdiction."

After briefs were submitted by ODC and Respondent, the HPS issued a Recommended Decision which was filed with the Supreme Court of Appeal on October 4, 2021. The HPS found that the "express language" of Rules 3.20(b) and 3.20(c) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure "require that a lawyer be publicly disciplined in the foreign jurisdiction in order for proceedings to be instituted under Rule 3.20, RLDP. Inasmuch as Respondent's discipline was a private reprimand and not subject to public disclosure under Pennsylvania law, it is the opinion of the [HPS] that the Panel and the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals are without subject matter jurisdiction to hear the matter. Therefore, [the HPS] recommend[ed] that this action be

dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction." Furthermore, the HPS recommended that Respondent's Motion to Seal the Record in this matter be granted.

After ODC filed an objection, the Supreme Court issued an opinion on June 10, 2022, wherein the Supreme Court found that the HPS and the Court have the authority to impose reciprocal discipline regardless of whether the underlying discipline imposed is private or public and remanded the matter to the HPS to "proceed with the reciprocal disciplinary process set forth." <u>Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Doheny</u>, 247 W.Va. 53, 875 S.E.2d 191, 199 (2022). The Supreme Court stated that

Pursuant to Rule 3.20(a) of the Rules of LDP "[a] final adjudication in another jurisdiction ... of misconduct constituting grounds for disciplinary of a lawyer ... conclusively establish[es] such conduct" for any proceedings under "these rules." Rule 3.20(a) does not simply authorize reciprocal discipline under the restrictions of the remaining subjections of Rule 3.20, but instead authorizes such discipline under the broader term of "these rules." As more fully set forth below, "these rules," namely the Rules of LDP, provide the HPS and this Court broad authority to impose discipline on attorneys licensed to practice in West Virginia. [Respondent's] Private Reprimand is a final adjudication in another jurisdiction of misconduct constituting grounds for discipline, and pursuant to Rule 3.20(a) of the Rules of LDP, that final adjudication conclusively establishes such conduct."

Id., 875 S.E.2d at 198.

The Supreme Court also rejected Respondent's arguments to seal the records in this matter, noting that the Court had refused similar requests to seal the records on two prior occasions, and that Respondent had "provided no authority or justification to warrant a different decision at this stage of the proceedings to warrant a different decision with regard to his motion to seal the record in this matter." <u>Id.</u>, 875 S.E.2d at 200.

On February 22, 2023, a telephonic status conference was held in the above-referenced matter. Andrea J. Hinerman, Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared for the Office of

Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel. Respondent appeared *pro se*. The HPS, comprised of Kelly D. Ambrose, Esquire, Chairperson, Henry W. Morrow, Jr., Esquire, and Dr. K. Edward Grose, Laymember, presided over this matter. Pending before the Hearing Panel Subcommittee was Respondent's second "Motion in Limine" filed on or about October 10, 2022, which sought to exclude the Office of Disciplinary Counsel's [hereinafter "ODC"] Exhibits Nos. 10, 12, 13 and 16 (Bates Nos. 93-143, 145-157 and 267-277), which Respondent collectively identified as "the Contested Documents." Disciplinary Counsel filed a response on or about November 22, 2022.

The HPS, having fully reviewed Respondent's second *Motion in Limine*, and Disciplinary Counsel's response thereto, and denied Respondent's motion noting that Respondent failed to request a formal hearing and documents were provided to ODC consistent with the applicable Rule of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. Whereupon the HPS inquired of Respondent whether he had requested a formal hearing in this matter pursuant to Rule 3.20(d) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. Respondent admitted that he had not requested a hearing pursuant to Rule 3.20(d) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure and subsequently made an oral motion requesting a hearing. [Trans. p. 5] The HPS advised Respondent that his request for a hearing was denied as untimely. A discussion was then held regarding the Supreme Court's ruling in Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Patrick J. Doheny, 247 W.Va. 3, 875 S.E.2d 191 (2022), application of Rule 3.20(e), and that reciprocal discipline should be imposed consistent with ODC's previous request of admonishment.⁴

On or about July 25, 2023, the Hearing Panel Subcommittee issued its decision in this matter and filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia its "Recommended Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee" (hereinafter "Report") and the transcript from the February 22, 2023 telephonic hearing. After careful consideration of the entire record, the Hearing Panel

⁴ See Order for the February 22, 2023 Status Conference.

Subcommittee determined that Respondent had not requested a formal hearing within the timeframe of Rule 3.20(d) and that pursuant to Rule 3.20(e), the same discipline could not be imposed because West Virginia does not issue private discipline; thus, a different type of discipline would be recommended. Accordingly, the Hearing Panel Subcommittee issued the following recommendation that Respondent be admonished.

B. HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE'S FINDINGS OF FACT

- 1. Patrick Doheny (hereinafter "Respondent") is a lawyer who was admitted to the West Virginia State Bar on October 10, 2001, after successful passage of the Bar Exam. As such, he is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board. Respondent's West Virginia law license is currently on Active status.
- 2. On January 5, 2017, Respondent was issued a private reprimand by the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania. [Attachment A to Notice of Reciprocal Disciplinary Action Pursuant to Rule 3.20 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure]
- 3. By Order entered October 19, 2016, the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania accepted and adopted the findings of the Hearing Committee which had recommended the imposition of a private reprimand. The Hearing Committee also found that Respondent had accepted responsibility for his action "and [found] nothing that would negatively impair Respondent's fitness to continue to practice law. A practice monitor is unnecessary, as there is no indication that Respondent has an alcohol or other substance abuse problem." [Attachment B to Notice of Reciprocal Disciplinary Action Pursuant to Rule 3.20 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure]

- 4. The Pennsylvania Office of Disciplinary Counsel had previously commenced formal disciplinary proceedings against Respondent based on Respondent's criminal conviction following a non-jury trial in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania. On January 23, 2013, Respondent was convicted of (1) Aggravated Assault by Motor Vehicle while Driving Under the Influence, (2) Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol or Controlled Substance, (3) Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol, high rate of alcohol, (4) Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol or Controlled Substance, and (5) Failure to Keep Right. Respondent had also been charged, but was acquitted of, reckless driving. The convictions arose out of a motor vehicle accident that occurred on the night of October 5, 2011, wherein Respondent's vehicle crossed the center line of a roadway and collided with a motorcycle traveling in the oncoming direction. The operator of the motorcycle sustained serious bodily injuries and a civil action was also filed due to the accident and resulted in a settlement.
- Respondent was sentenced on June 24, 2013, as follows: (1) placement into a county intermediate punishment program (IPP) for a period of eighteen (18) months which consisted of house arrest, work release, and the wearing of an ankle monitoring device; (2) Probation for a period of four years supervised by the Allegheny County Adult Probation Office subject to the following conditions: (a) payment of restitution in the amount of \$1.00; (b) have no contact with victim; (c) perform 100 hours of community service; and (d) do not operate a motor vehicle unless and until driver's license is restored; (3) court-ordered drug and alcohol evaluation; (4) safe driving classes; and (5) payment of a \$500.00 fine. Respondent's punishment commenced on June 24, 2013, and his probation continued until June of 2017.

- 6. The Order of the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania conclusively establishes Respondent's misconduct for the purposes of this reciprocal disciplinary proceeding and is a final adjudication of the matter in Pennsylvania.
- 7. On April 24, 2018, the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC") filed a "Notice of Reciprocal Disciplinary Action Pursuant to Rule 3.20 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure".
- 8. Paragraph 9 of that Notice advised Respondent that Disciplinary Counsel will request that the Hearing Panel Subcommittee impose a similar, but not the same sanction as the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania but that West Virginia Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure do not provide for a private reprimand as a permissible sanction.
- 9. In Paragraph 10 of that notice, in accordance with Rule 3.20(d) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, ODC advised Respondent of his right to challenge the validity of his Pennsylvania discipline, advised of his right to request a formal hearing and provide a complete copy of the record to the ODC within thirty (30) days.
- 10. Respondent neither requested a formal hearing nor provided a full copy of the record of the disciplinary proceedings which resulted to the imposition of the disciplinary order pursuant to Rule 3.20(d) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Order of the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania wherein Respondent was issued a private reprimand conclusively establishes the misconduct for the purposes of this reciprocal disciplinary proceeding. <u>Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Doheny</u>, 247 W.Va. 53, 875 S.E.2d 191, 198 (2022). See also, <u>Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Post</u>, 219 W.Va.

82, 631 S.E.2d 921 (2006). After careful review of the record, the HPS found that Respondent neither requested a formal hearing nor provided a full copy of the record of the disciplinary proceedings which had resulted in the imposition of the disciplinary order pursuant to Rule 3.20(d) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. Furthermore, Respondent failed to establish any of the four exceptions of Rule 3.20(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. The HPS properly found that the same discipline as was issued in Pennsylvania could not be recommended in this matter because West Virginia does not impose private discipline against attorneys and no mechanism exists in the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure which would permit the disposition of Respondent's West Virginia disciplinary proceedings to remain private. Thus, the HPS did not err in recommending an admonishment, the least serious of formal discipline in West Virginia.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

On August 21, 2023, the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed its consent to the HPS's recommendation. Respondent filed his objection to the HPS's recommended decision on August 22, 2023. This Honorable Court's August 23, 2023 Order indicated that "[t]he Clerk of Court will, on a later date, provide the parties with a Notice of Argument under Rule 19(b) containing further information on the date and time of oral argument."

IV. STANDARD OF PROOF

In Syllabus Point 3 of Committee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia State Bar v. McCorkle, 192 W.Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377 (1994), this Court held that,

A de novo standard applies to a review of the adjudicatory record made before the [Lawyer Disciplinary Board] as to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanctions; this Court gives respectful consideration to the [Board's] recommendations while ultimately exercising its own independent judgment. On the other hand, substantial deference is given to the [Board's] findings of fact, unless such findings are not supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.

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