I. CROSS-ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Respondent submits that the Hearing Panel Subcommittee (“HPS”) in its July 24, 2023
Recommended Report (hereinafter “the Second HPS Recommendation,” a copy of which is
appended hereto as Appendix “A”), and the Supreme Court of Appeals in Lawyer Disciplinary
Board v. Patrick Doheny, 247 W.Va. 53, 875 S.E.2d 191 (2022) (“Doheny I’), erred in failing to
apply the longstanding and controlling precedents set forth in the HPS’s original Recommended
Decision of October 4, 2021 in these proceedings, where it set forth as follows:

““Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no basis for

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

and the jurisdiction imposing the private discipline. This was the clear scheme

adopted by this Court and clearly evident by its language when the Rules of Lawyer

Disciplinary Procedure were instituted; but more than this, the Rule is explicit, plain

and clear.

(Concurring Opinion, Appendix “A,” pp. 4 of 10 through 5 of 10). The question then, since the
decision in Doheny I, becomes: “what other [West Virginia] rules contain words without meaning
that can be cast aside through judicial opinion instead of by express amendment and how do we
interpret them as we go forward?” Id., p. 5 of 10.

In the view of HPS Members Morrow and Gross, the Supreme Court of Appeals, in “its
rush to assert its jurisdiction it has ignored and cast aside settled legal principles and created far
more serious problems and repercussions not only for ODC and the Lawyer Disciplinary Hearing
Panel Subcommittees, but for attorneys and judges in other matters since this ruling could seriously
impact decisions in other cases not even remotely related to lawyer discipline.” Id., pp. 5 of 10
through 6 of 10. For example, now that the Supreme Court of Appeals has completely untethered
Rule 3.20 proceedings from the textual requirement that the reciprocal discipline being sought
actually be “reciprocal,” there is nothing to stop the ODC from seeking public suspension or
annulment of an attorney’s law license, even without the minimum due process of a hearing, on
the basis of purely private admonishments and reprimands from other jurisdictions. /d., p. 6 of 10.
Moreover, now that the ODC is able to seek and obtain (capriciously, arbitrarily, and without even
a hearing in Rule 3.20 proceedings) “aggravated” discipline more severe than that issued in a
foreign jurisdiction, it appears that respondent attorneys will not even be afforded the minimum

due process of a “mitigation” hearing (no such hearing is even contemplated by the text of Rule

3.20). Id. “When Rule 3.20 was originally written, it was fashioned to harmonize its varying

10



provisions with each other and with existing West Virginia Law. Now, those same provisions
exist but due to the opinion in Doheny are no longer in harmony with themselves or existing West
Virginia law.” Id. Furthermore, it is now impossible for West Virginia attorneys to know, going
forward, whether they are now required to report purely private discipline issued in other
jurisdictions (the text of the Rules themselves in no way requires it), and whether their failure to
report otherwise non-reportable private discipline in other jurisdictions is now grounds for
additional aggravated discipline under Rule 3.14 as a result of Doheny I. Id.

As for “the broader implications of the impact upon the legal community,” decades of
longstanding precedent concerning statutory construction is now imperiled, and possibly rendered
meaningless, as Doheny I operates to overrule them sub silento. Id., p. 7 of 10. It is now virtually
impossible for West Virginia attorneys to advise their clients competently as to what a statute or
court rule might mean, or for HPS members to perform their duties and make reasonable and
correct recommendations in the absence of any reliable textual guidance (“it means what it says”
no longer holds; as the new rule appears to be “it means what it says, until it doesn’t”). Id. “When
the Court deviates from the clear, reasonable, sensible and protective meaning of a rule or standard
and applies a standard no one could reasonably anticipate, an atmosphere of uncertainty, distrust
and chaos results.” Id. Even worse, based on the concurring opinion of now Chief Justice Walker
in Doheny I, which “takes the HPS to task at length” for finding that subsections (b) and (c) are
“jurisdictional” limits (“[i]f [they] do not represent subject matter jurisdictional parameters, then
what do they represent?” —id.), the power of the ODC and Supreme Court of Appeals over attorney
discipline may now be so “unlimited” and untethered from anything resembling actual rules as to
be Godlike, and the Lawyer Disciplinary Board should just be disbanded as irrelevant. Id. at 7 of

10 through 8 of 10.
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If a majority of the Supreme Court of Appeal wishes to amend Rule 3.20 in a manner,
similar to that of the state of Illinois, that might allow for the imposition of public reciprocal
discipline in West Virginia based upon private discipline elsewhere, the Court “has the
unquestioned authority to do so;” however, to do so by interpreting the present Rule 3.20 “in a
published opinion without public comment and without reconciling its various provisions™ can
only lead to “unintended consequences and needless litigation on down the road.” Id. at 8 of 10.
The Concurring Opinion of HPS Members Morrow and Gross concluded with the following

prescient considerations:

This case has its problems and some may believe that it is relatively
unimportant. [Our] concern and reason for penning this lengthy concurrence stems
from the obvious abandonment of the rule of law in deciding this case by the
Majority of the Supreme Court and the effects of doing so on future cases coming
before the Lawyer Disciplinary Board and the Court in this and other areas. We
are now in an era where the Rule of Law is being questioned at every turn all across
this country with not an insignificant segment of our society advocating open
rebellion and civil war. Public confidence in the judiciary appears to be at an all
time low. But for a few procedural words, The Vice President of the United States
could have overturned an election, thwarted the will of the people and effectively
ended our experiment in democracy (or plunged us into a civil war). Aside from
the Civil War, there has never been another time in our history when the Rule of
Law has taken on such urgency and importance. While this case may seem
unimportant to most, the clear implications, in today’s jurisprudence, are immense
and should not be discounted.

For the foregoing reasons [we] respectfully but reluctantly concur in the
recommendation of the [HPS] but also must state that [we] respectfully disagree
with the majority opinion of the Court and concurring opinion of [now Chief]
Justice Walker in Doheny and respectfully request that the Court review and revisit
the decision handed down for the various reasons stated herein.

Id. at 9 of 10 through 10 of 10.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court of Appeals should reconsider, vacate and rescind Doheny I on the basis
that it constitutes a wholesale abandonment of the Rule of Law. As set forth in the First HPS

Recommendation (Appendix “B”") and the Concurring Opinion of Second HPS Recommendation,
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the express language of Rules 3.20(b) and 3.20(c) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure
require that an attorney be issued “public” discipline in a foreign jurisdiction before the ODC may
seek “reciprocal” discipline against an attorney licensed in West Virginia. Consistent with
Supreme Court of Appeals case law addressing statutory interpretation and subject matter
jurisdiction, the subsections (b) and (c) of Rule 3.20 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure
constitute “jurisdictional” rules, and the ODC’s failure and inability to satisfy the prerequisite
jurisdictional elements of these Rules deprives the HPS and the Supreme Court of Appeals of
jurisdiction to proceed in this matter. The Court should also seal the entire record of these
proceedings, and direct the relevant Case Reporters to withdraw publication of Doheny I on the
basis that it was improvidently decided, in order to protect the protected privacy rights of
Respondent under Pennsylvania law.

Additionally, policy considerations extraneous to the issues currently before this
Honorable Court warrant that the Court reconsider, vacate and rescind Doheny 1. By reaching
across state lines to extort and extract from Respondent photocopies of highly sensitive and
confidential documents generated in Pennsylvania, then misappropriating them by illegally
publishing them on a public docket, West Virginia’s disciplinary counsel committed multiple acts
of fraud and criminal falsity against Respondent. Moreover, in the event Respondent does not
prevail in these proceedings, the criminal malfeasance committed by West Virginia’s disciplinary
counsel across state lines has vested Respondent, after he has exhausted his administrative
remedies, with standing to pursue a civil rights action against West Virginia’s disciplinary
authorities in federal court in Pennsylvania (including but not limited to actions based on their
advocacy for and/or benefiting from the application of ex post facto law; violations of the due

process and equal protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
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Constitution; and violations of Respondent’s protected confidentiality and reputational rights

under Pennsylvania law).

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

This Honorable Court’s Order of August 23, 2023 has already stated that “[t]he Clerk of
Court will, on a later date, provide the parties with a Notice of Argument under Rule 19(b)
containing further information on the date and time of oral argument.”

V. ARGUMENT
A, The Court should reconsider, vacate and rescind Doheny I, dismiss the ODC's Notice
of Reciprocal Discipline with prejudice, and seal the record of these proceedings
because the HPS correctly determined in its First Recommendation that the ODC
lacked subject matter jurisdiction to seek “reciprocal discipline” against Respondent
because Respondent has never been subject to "public discipline” in any foreign
jurisdiction.

The Concurring Opinion of the Second HPS Determination (Appendix “A,” pp. 1 of 10
through 10 of 10) accurately and cogently sets forth more than sufficient grounds for the Supreme
Court of Appeals to reconsider, vacate and rescind its majority opinion in Doheny I, and
Respondent incorporates herein and relies upon the opinion and findings of HPS Members Morrow

and Gross in their entirety.! The majority and concurring opinions in Doheny I constitute an

extraordinary and unprecedented assault on the Rule of Law itself that, if not reconsidered and

! Tt must be noted that the HPS’s Chairperson, Kelly D. Ambrose, Esquire, originally “led the
charge” to have these proceedings dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and upon
information and belief, drafted the First HPS Recommendation of October 4, 2021 (Appendix
“B” hereto) on behalf of the HPS. While Chairperson Ambrose did not join her HPS colleagues
Morrow and Gross in their Concurring Opinion to the Second HPS Recommendation (Appendix
“A”), apparently having been cowed by the dictates set forth in Doheny I into simply rubber-
stamping the manifestly egregious actions of the ODC, all three (3) Members of the HPS have
been unanimous and in lockstep, since at least 2021, in their view that the clear and unambiguous
language of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure simply does not allow the ODC to
proceed against Respondent in a Rule 3.20 proceeding, and that this matter must therefore be

dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.
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withdrawn, will have far-reaching and possibly devastating (even if unintended) consequences in
any case in which the reading of an otherwise clear and unambiguous statutory provision or court
rule is at issue. The rulings set forth in Doheny 1, if not vacated and rescinded, are a virtual recipe
for future, systemic, and ever-increasing corruption and fraud that is certain to be perpetrated by
West Virginia’s disciplinary counsel (and possibly by other attorneys, in other cases, arising out
of contexts other than reciprocal disciplinary proceedings).? For these reasons and the reasons set
forth in the Concurring Opinion to the Second HPS Recommendation (Appendix “A,” pp. 1 of 10
through 10 of 10), the Supreme Court of Appeals should reconsider, vacate and rescind Doheny 1,
and dismiss these proceedings for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

When the ODC filed its Notice that instituted the present reciprocal disciplinary
proceedings, it referenced, on a public docket, that Respondent had purportedly been issued a
“Private Reprimand” in Pennsylvania (ODC’s Notice, Y 2-3), and attached, as Exhibits to their
Notice, unauthenticated photocopies of the Misappropriated Document that would have been
generated during, and made a part of the record of, disciplinary proceedings in Pennsylvania.
(ODC’s Rule 3.20 Notice, Attachments “A” and “B”). The very fact that Pennsylvania’s
Disciplinary Board may have issued a Private Reprimand to Respondent, as well as the records of
any such proceedings (including but not limited to the Private Reprimand itself, and the Report of
Findings of the Hearing Committee), are protected confidential information under Pennsylvania

law, which are not available to the public. See Pennsylvania Rule of Disciplinary Enforcement

2 In both of its Briefs to this Court filed on December 10, 2021 and October 10, 2023, the ODC
has characterized the positions it has taken in this matter as “a matter of first impression.” In
doing so, the lawyers of the ODC have telegraphed to the world that if they ultimately succeed in
perpetrating their corrupt schemes against the Respondent in this case, it is a metaphysical
certainty that they will continue to perpetrate these corrupt schemes against additional

respondents in future cases.
15



402(k); §93.108 of the Pennsylvania Disciplinary Board Rules and Procedures, “Restoration of
confidentiality” (while the record of disciplinary proceedings in Pennsylvania remain opened from
the time formal charges are filed, once the proceedings conclude with the imposition of private
discipline, the confidentiality of respondent’s disciplinary proceedings is fully restored).

In this case, when Respondent provided the ODC with a photocopy of this Misappropriated
Document, he did so pursuant to his reporting and cooperation requirements under W.Va. R.L.D.P.
3.19, with the reasonable expectation and understanding that said disclosures were made pursuant
to the ODC’s Conviction Investigation concerning Respondent’s DUI-related convictions, and that
the “details” of said investigation (including and especially the Misappropriated Document) was
required to remain “confidential” in West Virginia pursuant to the text W.Va. RL.D.P. 2.6
(“Confidentiality”). However, the ODC, notwithstanding the provisions of Pennsylvania law and
W.Va. RL.D.P. 2.6, and without notifying Respondent that it was doing so (as also required by
Rule 2.6), arbitrarily changed the Conviction Investigation (I.D. No. 13-01-081) into a Reciprocity
Investigation (I.D. No. 17-01-439) behind the scenes, then filed copies of the Misappropriated
Document on the public docket of these proceedings, without ever requesting and obtaining a
waiver from Respondent of the confidentiality of any Pennsylvania proceedings and related
documents.

In doing so, the ODC has remained in systemic and ongoing violation of both W.Va.
R.L.D.P. 2.6 (mandating the confidentiality of “details” of disciplinary investigations), and the
Pennsylvania disciplinary system’s confidentiality protections afforded to respondent attorneys
who are not publicly disciplined. (see Pa. R.D.E. 402(k); see also Pa. Disc. Bd. Rule of Proc. §
93.108). Accordingly, in addition to closing and dismissing the present proceedings with prejudice

for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, in order to mitigate the systemic and ongoing harm the
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ODC’s malfeasance has caused Respondent to suffer for more than four (4) years, the Supreme

Court of Appeals should seal the docket for these proceedings to restore and protect Respondent’s

confidentiality rights (afforded by both West Virginia and Pennsylvania law) concerning the

Misappropriated Document. Additionally, now that the possible existence of highly confidential

disciplinary proceedings concerning Respondent in Pennsylvania has been broadcast nationally,

through the Court’s publication and reporting of Dokeny I, Respondent has suffered and continues
to suffer irreparable (and as set forth below, legally actionable) harm. In order to mitigate this
harm, it is imperative that the Supreme Court of Appeals, in addition to dismissing these
proceedings and sealing their record, notify the relevant Case Reporters (West Publications —

Southeastern Reporter, WestLaw, LexisNexis, etc.) that the Supreme Court of Appeals has

withdrawn and rescinded Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Patrick Doheny, 875 S.E.2d 191 (W.Va.

2022) as improvidently decided, and direct that said Case Reporters withdraw and rescind

publication of Doheny 1.

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